
 
CITY OF BRUNSWICK 

601 Gloucester Street * Post Office Box 550 * Brunswick * Georgia * 31520-0550 * (912) 267-5500 * Fax (912) 267-5549 
 

Cornell L. Harvey, Mayor                        City Attorney 
Felicia M. Harris, Mayor Pro Tem                      Brian D. Corry 
John A. Cason III, Commissioner                      
Julie T. Martin, Commissioner                                                                                                                             City Manager 
Vincent T. Williams, Commissioner                Regina M. McDuffie 
                                                         
       

www.brunswickga.org  
AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER 

 

AGENDA 
*** 

BRUNSWICK CITY COMMISSION MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, AUGUST 18, 2021 AT 5:30 P.M. 

HYBRID MEETING 
1229 NEWCASTLE STREET, 2nd FLOOR 

& 
VIRTUAL TELECONFERENCE VIA ZOOM 

STREAMED LIVE AT THE BELOW WEB ADDRESSES: 
https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga 

or 
https://cityofbrunswick-ga-gov.zoom.us/j/99490428307 

 
CALL TO ORDER **INVOCATION **PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

PUBLIC HEARING 
1. City of Brunswick Proposed 2021 Millage Rate.  (R. McDuffie) 

PRESENTATION(S) 
2. City Manager Regina McDuffie to give a Presentation Regarding the American Rescue Plan Act 

Funding Proposal.  (Encl. 1) 
3. City Manager Regina McDuffie to give a Presentation Regarding Plans for Georgia Cities Week 

Activities.  (Encl. 2) 
APPOINTMENT(S)  

4. Committee and Board 
I. Audit Committee – Two Appointments 

II. Tree Board – One Appointment 
ITEM(S) TO BE CONSIDERED FOR APPROVAL 

5. Consider Approval of August 4, 2021 Regular Scheduled Meeting Minutes. (subject to any 
necessary changes.) (N. Atkinson) (Encl. 3) 

6. Consider Approval of Resolution No. 2021-12 – Setting of 2021 Millage Rate. (R. McDuffie) 
(Encl. 4) 

7. Consider Approval of Agreement with GHD for Environmental Monitoring and Reporting 
Services at Fourth Street Landfill.   (G. Alberson) (Encl. 5) 

http://www.brunswickga.org/
https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga
https://cityofbrunswick-ga-gov.zoom.us/j/99490428307


Page 2 
August 18, 2021 
City Commission Agenda 
 
 
 

8. Consider Approval of Salary Increase for City Manager Regina McDuffie.  (Commission) (Encl. 6) 
COMMISSONER CASON(S) ITEM  

9. Update on Contract for Household Garbage, Yard Debris and Recycling. 
EXECUTIVE SESSION  



AMERICAN RESCUE 
PLAN ACT
CITY OF BRUNSWICK

PROPOSED STRATEGY AND APPROACH

FY 2021- 2024

1



ARPA: FACTS

• Signed March 11, 2021

• $1.9 trillion package

• $362 billion in state and local aid

• $65 billion for counties

• $9.212 million for City of Brunswick (Initial allotment - $4,606,131) 

2



ARPA: USES - BROADLY DEFINED

• Respond to or mitigate the public health emergency with respect to the COVID-19 
emergency

• Revenue recovery

• Water, sewer and broadband

• Premium pay

3



ARPA: RESTRICTIONS/LIMITATIONS

• Can’t be used for pension funds

• Can’t be used as non-Federal  match where prohibited

• Can’t be used directly to service debt, satisfy a judgment or settlement, or contribute to 
a  “rainy  day”  fund

• Periodic reports required

• Failure to follow guidance means returning funds to the U.S. Treasury Department

4



ARPA: DEADLINES AND GUIDELINES

• Funds were sent directly to the City

• First allotment received on June 07, 2021

• Second allotment – June 07, 2022

• Deadline for obligations to be incurred December  31, 2024  

• Funds must be fully expended  by  December  31, 2026.

• Treasury Final Interim Rules and reporting requirements will guide decision-making.  

5



ARPA: CITY OF BRUNSWICK 
STRATEGY AND ASSUMPTIONS

• Treasury Guidance - likely to be no more restrictive than the CARES Act

• Funds will be deposited in separate account; possibly moved later to another banking 
institution

• No movement of funds will be made until Treasury guidance is finalized and reviewed.  

6



ARPA: CITY OF BRUNSWICK
RECOMMENDED FUNDING USES/PURPOSES

• Continue drainage improvements in critical neighborhood areas 

• Improve technological infrastructure through Broadband enhancements

• Refuel the local economy through support for small businesses 

• Support a multi-faceted approach to housing improvements in the 
community

• Maintaining liquidity and recovering revenue shortfalls 

7



ARPA: RECOMMENDED USES

Summary of Funding Sources & Uses  
FUNDING SOURCES  $$ Amount FY2022 FY2023 FY2024

2022 Fund 
Distribution 4,606,131.00   
2023 Fund 
Distribution 4,606,131.00   

TOTAL ESTIMATED FUNDING 9,212,262.00   4,606,131$       4,606,131$       -$                    

FUNDING USES
College Park Storm Drainage 1,000,000.00   0 1,000,000$       0
Broadband Initiative 3,000,000.00   1,000,000$       1,000,000$       1,000,000$       
Business Support / Relief 1,700,000.00   1,000,000$       700,000$          0
Housing Relief 2,500,000.00   1,500,000$       500,000$          500,000$          
Revenue Recovery 1,000,000.00   500,000$          500,000$          0

TOTAL FUNDING USES 9,200,000.00   4,000,000.00   3,700,000.00   1,500,000.00   

606,131.00       906,131.00       (1,500,000.00)  

Remaining Undesignated Funds 12,262.00         1,512,262$       12,262$             

Expenditure By Fiscal Year

8



INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS

• College Park Drainage

• Funds to be used to supplement funding from the CDBG-DR program for drainage improvements 
in the College Park Neighborhood; Phase 1 – 4 is projected to cost approximately $10.5 million.  
These funds along with funds from DCA will ensure completion of the project.  

• Broadband Initiative 

• The City proposes to invest in a physical broadband network that provides *last- mile connections 
that meet or exceed current *reliably standards to unserved, underserved households or 
businesses.  The intended capital will focus on funding last-mile projects or ensuring that funded 
middle-mile projects have the ability to leverage partners with a middle-mile network. 

9



COMMUNITY ASSISTANCE  

• Business Support / Relief  “Don’t Slow Our Roll”

• Capital Assistance and Relationship Lending

• aims to foster lender relationships with downtown business and financial institutions, as well as 
provide emergency low interest rate financing in times of need.

• Property Stabilization and Market Ready 

• designed to stimulate redevelopment and encourage commercial occupancy.

• Community Group Investment Fund 

• to mediate obstacles by providing grants on a matching basis for business expansion and innovation, 
and a lump-sum grant for workforce development. 

10



MORE COMMUNITY ASSISTANCE

• Housing Disaster Relief Program

• To provide aid to persons impacted by the March 13, 2020, declaration of a nationwide 
emergency due to the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. HDRP intends to 
help with housing renovation and reconstruction and is designated to assist developers 
acquiring properties conveyed through the Brunswick/Glynn County Landbank.

• Persons affected through the loss of employment, health, or eviction will be given first right of 
refusal to rent newly renovated or reconstructed “affordable” properties.

• Assistance may also be made available to support immediate needs including emergency 
sheltering and food subsidies.   

11



ARPA: CITY OF BRUNSWICK
JUSTIFICATIONS

Why Community aid for small businesses and housing when other ARPA funds may 
be available?

Business strengthening and development and housing are critical aspects that support and 
promote the health of our community.  Other sources of funds are competitive and do not 
provide the immediate relief that is necessary to rejuvenate our economy.  

Why not more to infrastructure / drainage projects?  

The City hopes to regain funding through the Special Purpose Local Option Sales 
Tax to support major expenditures for drainage and road improvements.  If 
SPLOST funds are not available, then consideration will be given to using ARPA funds.   

12



DIRECT TO THE CITY

• Revenue Recovery 

• $500,000 budgeted in FY 2022 and FY 2023 (proposed) to support shortfalls in areas that 
were impacted by changes in operation during FY 2021.  The city lost revenue from franchise 
fees, excise taxes and court fines and fees.   However, sales taxes and property taxes remained 
stable allowing the city to maintain staffing levels and operations.  

13



CONCLUSION 14

• The City of Brunswick hopes to have a 
lasting impact from the use of the American 
Rescue act funds by promoting prosperity 
through its support of local businesses, 
employment and housing improvements, 
bridging the technology gap with increased 
broadband capacity and stabilization of city 
finances and infrastructure.  











































OFFICIAL MINUTES 
COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF BRUNSWICK, GEORGIA 

REGULAR SCHEDULED MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, AUGUST 4, 2021 

VIRTUAL TELECONFERENCE VIA ZOOM 
STREAMED LIVE AT THE BELOW WEB ADDRESSES: 

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga 
or 

https://cityofbrunswick-ga-gov.zoom.us/s/97911757315 
 

PRESENT:   Honorable Mayor Cornell Harvey, Mayor Pro-Tem Felicia Harris, Commissioner  
                       John Cason III, Commissioner Julie Martin, and Commissioner Vincent Williams  
CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Cornell Harvey - meeting began at 5:03 p.m. 
INVOCATION:  Mayor Pro Tem Harris 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  Recited by Mayor Harvey        

 
 
UPDATE 
1. Jim Ritchey with Whitman, Requardt & Associates, LLP to Provide a PowerPoint Presentation  
    on Progress of Transit Program Update.  
    Information only; no action required. 
APPOINTMENT  
2.  Board (N. Atkinson)   

1) Tree Board – One Appointment 
     Commissioner Williams made a motion to appoint Joanna Lee to the above-referenced board,  
     filling the unexpired term of Cecelia Lampkin until October 1, 2021; seconded by Commissioner  
     Martin.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
ITEM(S) TO BE CONSIDERED FOR APPROVAL 
3.  Consider Approval of July 21, 2021 Regular Scheduled Meeting Minutes.  (subject to any  
      necessary changes.) (N. Atkinson)  
      Commissioner Cason made a motion to approve the above-referenced minutes; seconded by  
      Commissioner Martin.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
4.   Consider Approval of Financial Reports as of June 30, 2021.  (K. Mills) 
      Commissioner Martin made a motion to approve the above-referenced reports as submitted;  
      seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Harris.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
5.   Consider Approval of Renewal of Additional Flood Insurance.  (L. Velie) 
      Mayor Pro Tem Harris made a motion to approve the renewal of the above-referenced flood  
      insurance policy; seconded by Commissioner Williams.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of  
      5 to 0. 
6.   Consider Approval of Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Congregate Meals & Adult Day Care Services  
      Contract.  (R. McDuffie) 
      Commissioner Cason made a motion to approve the above-referenced contract; seconded by  
      Mayor Pro Tem Harris.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
7.   Consider Approval of Glynn-Brunswick 911 Services Agreement for External Entities.  (R.  
      Mobley) 
      Commissioner Williams made a motion to approve the above-referenced agreement; seconded by  

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga
https://cityofbrunswick-ga-gov.zoom.us/s/97911757315


2 

      Commissioner Martin.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
CITY ATTORNEY’S ITEM(S) 
8. Consider Approval of the Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Oglethorpe 

Conference Center Memorandum of Understanding.
Commissioner Martin made a motion to approve the above-referenced memorandum of 
understanding; seconded by Commissioner Williams.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 
to 0.

9. Consider Approval of Submitting Comments in Response to the Georgia Department of 
Transportation Proposed Rule 672-11-04.
Commissioner Williams made a motion to approve the submission of the above-referenced  
comments; seconded by Commissioner Martin.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5
to 0.

EXECUTIVE SESSION  
Commissioner Williams made a motion to adjourn to executive session to discuss litigation and 
personnel; seconded by Commissioner Martin.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
RECONVENE FROM EXECUTIVE SESSION  
Mayor Harvey announced no action was taken. 

Commissioner Williams made a motion to adjourn; seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Harris.  Motion 
passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0.        

MEETING ADJOURNED – meeting adjourned at8 8:07 p.m. 

/s/Cornell L. Harvey 
Cornell L. Harvey, Mayor 

Attest: /s/ Naomi D. Atkinson  
 Naomi D. Atkinson, City Clerk 



RESOLUTION 2021-12 
 

AD VALOREM TAX MILLAGE RATE RESOLUTION

 
CITY OF BRUNSWICK, GEORGIA 

 
IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED by the City Commission of the City of 
Brunswick, a Georgia Municipal Corporation, that an Ad Valorem Tax of 
thirty-one dollars and eighty-four cents ($31.837) per one thousand dollars 
($1,000.00) of assessed valuation is hereby levied and assessed for the 
calendar year 2021 upon all tangible property that is subject to taxation within 
the City.  Pursuant to O.C.G.A. Section 48-8-91, it is further resolved that said 
Millage rate of thirty-one and eight hundred and thirty-seven one thousandths 
(31.837) mils shall be reduced by eighteen and six hundred  and eighteen  
thousandths (18.618) mils, that being the Millage rate which, if levied against 
the tangible property in the City of Brunswick would produce an amount equal 
to the distribution of local option sales tax received by the City of Brunswick 
during 2020, leaving a net Millage rate of thirteen and two hundred nineteen 
one thousandths (13.219) mils, which shall be the net Millage rate upon which 
each taxpayer’s bill shall be based. 
 
IT IS FUTHER RESOLVED that payment of 2021 Ad Valorem Taxes shall 
be due no later than November 19, 2021. 
 
SO RESOLVED this 18th day of August 2021 upon motion duly made and  
seconded by the Mayor and Commissioners of the City of Brunswick. 
 
      __________________________ 
      Cornell L. Harvey, Mayor 
 
 
Attest:  ___________________________ 
     Naomi D. Atkinson, City Clerk 



Page | 1 
 

 

SUBJECT: AGREEMENT FOR LANDFILL MONITORING AND REPORTING – 
FOURTH STREET LANDFILL  

  

COMMISSION ACTION REQUESTED ON:             August 18, 2021 

PURPOSE: 

Approval of a proposal from GHD for environmental monitoring and reporting services at the 
Fourth Street Landfill 

HISTORY: 

The Fourth Street Landfill is a municipal landfill which was owned and operated by the City of 
Brunswick, Glynn County, and the Glynn County Board of Education.  The landfill was closed 
in 1988 and was listed on Georgia EPD’s Hazardous Sites Inventory (HSI) in 1994.  Due to the 
landfill’s inclusion on the HSI, many of the costs for post-closure monitoring and care of the 
landfill are reimbursable from EPD’s Hazardous Waste Trust Fund. 

Based on ownership and operation agreements of the landfill, the City is responsible for 50% of 
the compliance costs related to the landfill.  Glynn County and the Glynn County Board of 
Education are each responsible for 25% of the costs. 

FACTS AND ISSUES: 

Following closure of a landfill site, the Georgia Environmental Protection Division (EPD) 
typically requires environmental monitoring to confirm that methane and other pollutants are not 
leaving the landfill site.  EPD also requires annual reporting of the monitoring data.  The 
monitoring and reporting of the site conditions at the Fourth Street Landfill are being conducted 
in accordance with the Corrective Action Plan, Addendum 2, dated June 2012.  This corrective 
action plan, approved by EPD, requires monitoring of the landfill soil cap competency, execution 
of restrictive covenants, groundwater and methane monitoring, and site access control.  GHD has 
provided the post-closure services for this site since 2016 and is very familiar with the site and 
its history.  

 

 



Page | 2 
 

BUDGET INFORMATION: 

The services listed in this proposal will total approximately $34,000 for the City of Brunswick.  
These services will be spread over the FY 22 and FY 23 budget years.  Funding for these 
services is budgeted annually in the Sanitation Fund. 

 

OPTIONS: 

1. Approve the proposal from GHD for environmental monitoring and reporting services at 
the Fourth Street Landfill. 

2. Do not approve the proposal from GHD for environmental monitoring and reporting 
services at the Fourth Street Landfill. 

3. Take no action at this time. 

 

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

Approve the proposal from GHD for environmental monitoring and reporting services at 
the Fourth Street Landfill. 

 

DEPARTMENT: Engineering   

 

Prepared by: Garrow Alberson, P.E., Director of Engineering and Public Works 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMENTS: 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve the proposal from GHD for environmental monitoring and reporting services at 
the Fourth Street Landfill. 

 

________________________________    ________________________ 

City Manager                                                                                      Date                   
      

8/10/2021



 
 
 
 
 

   The Power of Commitment 

GHD  

3075 Breckinridge Boulevard, Suite 470 
Duluth, Georgia 30096 
United States 
www.ghd.com 
 

Our ref: 044144-PRO-1 
 
 
May 28, 2021 

4th Street Landfill Group 
 
Garrow Alberson, City Engineer, City of Brunswick 
Aaron W. Mumford, County Attorney, Glynn County 
Andrew Lakin, Glynn County School System 
Brian Corry, Williams Litigation Group, P.C. 

Proposal for Landfill Monitoring and Reporting 
4th Street Landfill Site – Brunswick, Glynn County, Georgia 

GHD is pleased to provide this proposal to continue monitoring and reporting support for the landfill property 
located at 4th Street in Brunswick, Georgia (Site). The landfill property is currently in a post-closure monitoring 
period. Remediation and/or monitoring of Site conditions is currently being conducted in accordance with the 
Corrective Action Plan (CAP) Addendum 2, dated June 2012, which required monitoring of soil cap 
competency, execution of restrictive covenants, groundwater and methane monitoring, and Site access control.  

1. Scope of Work  

The scope of work discussed below covers a period of June 2021 through September 2022. The below 
planned work encompasses all routine monitoring and maintenance at the Site as well as regulatory reporting. 

1.1 Annual Landfill Cover Inspection 

GHD will inspect the soil cover of the landfill footprint annually to identify any of the following indicators of 
landfill cap concerns: 

– Erosion of soils or exposed underlying waste materials; 

– Settlement or ground depression formation; 

– Disturbed or distressed vegetation; 

– Leachate seeps; 

– Ponded water; and 

– Ground disturbance by vehicles or machinery;  

In addition to the above landfill cap integrity indicators, the landfill and surrounding property will be inspected 
for fencing and access gate damage, signage, vandalism, trash dumping, and other signs of Site disturbance. 



   The Power of Commitment 

044144-PRO-1  |  4th Street Landfill Site – Brunswick, Glynn County, Georgia 2 

A landfill inspection form for the Site will be filled out by field personnel during the inspection and the findings 
will be included in the Annual Monitoring Report. Any damage noted in the inspection form will be 
communicated to the Group and may be addressed under a separate proposal for repairs. 

The Annual Landfill Cover Inspection for 2021 was previously completed in March 2021 and will be presented 
in the Annual Monitoring Report due on September 1, 2021. This proposal’s scope of work covers the Annual 
Landfill Cover Inspection for 2022, which is currently scheduled for March 2022. 

1.2 Methane Monitoring 

Methane concentrations in all vent wells located within the landfill footprint and in all compliance wells on the 
perimeter of the landfill will be monitored semi-annually in accordance with the Methane Monitoring Plan (MMP) 
submitted on June 9, 2017 and approved by EPD on July 27, 2019. Methane and oxygen concentrations will be 
recorded on Methane Monitoring Forms, which will be provided with the Annual Monitoring Report. 

Methane monitoring will be performed in accordance with the established protocols in the Georgia EPD 
September 2015 Guidance Document for Methane Monitoring at Solid Waste Disposal Facilities. This guidance 
calls for the use of a handheld methane and oxygen monitoring meter, such as a LANDTEC GEM™ 3000 or 
GEM™ 5000. 

The first of the two semi-annual methane monitoring events for 2021 was completed in March 2021 and the 
second semi-annual event is scheduled for late July 2021. The two 2021 monitoring events will be presented in 
the Annual Monitoring Report due on September 1, 2021. This proposal’s scope of work covers the second 
2021 methane monitoring event and two semi-annual methane monitoring events planned for 2022. 

1.3 Groundwater Monitoring 

Groundwater elevation readings will be collected annually from each of the groundwater wells located on the 
Site. Depth to water in each of the wells will be gauged on the same day using a water level indicator and the 
data will be compared to previously surveyed top of casing elevations to determine a groundwater elevation for 
each monitoring well.  

The groundwater elevation data from the wells cased within the shallow groundwater table will be used to 
produce a shallow/surficial groundwater contour and flow direction map. Similarly, the groundwater elevation 
data from the wells cased within the deeper groundwater table will be used to produce a deep groundwater 
contour and flow direction map. The groundwater elevation data and maps will be presented within the Annual 
Monitoring Report. 

The annual groundwater elevation monitoring for 2021 was previously completed in March 2021 and will be 
presented in the Annual Monitoring Report due on September 1, 2021. This proposal’s scope of work covers 
the annual groundwater elevation monitoring for 2022, which is currently scheduled for March 2022. 

At this time, no groundwater sampling is required to be completed until November 2022, which is five years 
beyond the previous groundwater sampling event. Groundwater sampling and analysis for that event will be 
included in a subsequent proposal and will be reported within the Annual Monitoring Report due on September 
1, 2023. 

1.4 Monitoring Well Repair and Replacement 

During recent inspections and visits to the Site, damage or destruction of several groundwater and methane 
monitoring wells was observed. Two of the destroyed groundwater monitoring wells (MW-10 and MW-14) are 



   The Power of Commitment 

044144-PRO-1  |  4th Street Landfill Site – Brunswick, Glynn County, Georgia 3 

part of the groundwater sampling program and were scheduled to be sampled during the 2022 five-year 
sampling event. The damaged methane well (GAS-005) is one of the compliance points for methane monitoring 
around the landfill perimeter. The temporary methane monitoring wells GAS-003A and GAS-003B need to be 
abandoned and the temporary well GAS-003C needs to be converted into a permanent menthane monitoring 
well to serve as a compliance point.  

The scope of repair work to be completed at the Site includes the following: 

– Install one 2” PVC groundwater monitoring well to a depth of 18 feet below grade surface (bgs) with 15 
feet of screen and 3 feet riser pipe. Finish the well installation with a locking well cap and a flush mount 
access port set in 2’x2’ concrete pad. The groundwater well will be installed at a point between the 
destroyed MW-10 and MW-14. 

– Abandon the damaged GAS-005 methane monitoring well (8 feet bgs) by removal of the well materials 
and filling the borehole with grout to the surface. Install a replacement methane monitoring well using 1” 
PVC pipe with 1 foot of riser pipe and 3 feet of screen with a pea gravel “sump” to 8 feet (4” borehole). 
Finish the well with a locking cap and flush mount access port set in a 2’x2’ concrete pad. 

– Abandon temporary methane monitoring wells GAS-003A and GAS-003B (7 ft deep) by removal of the 
well materials and filling the borehole with grout to the surface. 

– Convert temporary methane well GAS-003C (7 ft bgs, 1” diameter PVC pipe) into a permanent monitoring 
well by installing additional riser pipe (if necessary) and a stick-up locking well casing set within a 2’x2’ 
concrete pad. 

It is anticipated that the repair work will take one day to complete, with a follow-up day to check the concrete 
pads and develop the groundwater monitoring well. The well repairs and maintenance activities will be 
described in the Annual Monitoring Report. 

In addition to the well repair and replacement work, GHD anticipates installing signage  

1.5 Project Management and Regulatory Reporting 

The scope of work in this proposal covers the preparation and submittal of the 2021 Annual Monitoring Report 
and the 2022 Annual Monitoring Report, due September 1, 2021 and 2022 to the Georgia Environmental 
Protection Division (EPD). Comment letters and general discussion or coordination with EPD may be required 
during through September 2022 and have been accounted for in the project management and reporting fees. 
Comments are expected from EDP on the draft Universal Environmental Covenant (UEC) that will be put in 
place for the Site to achieve the Type 5 Risk Reduction Standards (RRS). GHD anticipates revising the UEC (if 
needed) following the comments and submitting it for final approval. 

Annual Monitoring Reports will be marked Draft until approved by the Group for finalization and submittal to 
EPD. Electronic copies will be provided to the Group and EPD, along with the hard copy(s) and CDs required 
by EPD. 

Project management will be performed out of the GHD Atlanta, Georgia office and will consist of the 
management of all subcontractors, overall project schedule and Site activities, and quality control of the 
deliverables. Terefe Mazengia and Matthew Talbert will be the primary points of contact for this project.  

2. Estimated Project Fees  

The estimated fees for the activities in the Scope of Work above are summarized in the table below: 



   The Power of Commitment 

044144-PRO-1  |  4th Street Landfill Site – Brunswick, Glynn County, Georgia 4 

Project Component Estimated Cost Range 

Semi-Annual Methane Monitoring (July 2021) $   6,500 - $   8,000 

Semi-Annual Methane Monitoring, Annual Groundwater Monitoring, Annual Landfill Cap 
Inspection (March 2022) 

$ 10,500 - $ 13,000 

Semi-Annual Methane Monitoring (July 2022) $   6,500 - $   8,000 

Monitoring Well Repair and Replacements (Summer/Fall 2021) $ 11,500 - $ 14,000 

Annual Reporting (through September 2022) $ 12,000 - $ 15,000 

Project Management and Regulatory Interface (through September 2022) $ 8,500 - $ 10,000 

Total estimated costs  $ 55,500 - $ 68,000 

Each of the above costs are required as part of the CAP implementation and should therefore be reimbursable 
by the State based on GHD’s prior discussions with Alan Nix of Georgia EPD. 

Additional maintenance and investigative activities may be required for the Site through September 2022 based 
on EPD input and changes in Site conditions. Any costs to perform any activities outside of the scope of the 
routine monitoring, maintenance, and reporting described herein will be submitted for review and approval 
under a separate proposal. 

3. Terms and Conditions

The Scope of Work above will be conducted in accordance with GHD’s standard Terms and Conditions 
attached. A signed copy of the attached Authorization to Proceed and the Terms and Conditions or separate 
written authorization identifying the service agreement terms and conditions is required from the Group to 
initiate the project. 

Please contact the undersigned if you have any questions or suggestions regarding the above or attached. 

Regards 

Terefe Mazengia 
Senior Hydrogeologist / Project Manager 

678.280.2140 
Terefe.Mazengia@ghd.com 

John DiZinno 
Project Director 

678.280.2121 
John.DiZinno@ghd.com 

cc: Matthew Talbert, GHD 



   The Power of Commitment 

044144-PRO-1  |  4th Street Landfill Site – Brunswick, Glynn County, Georgia 5 

 

Authorization to Proceed 
Proposal for Landfill Monitoring and Reporting 
Fourth Street Landfill 
Brunswick, Georgia 

I have reviewed GHD Proposal No. 044144-PRO-1 above and hereby authorize GHD to proceed with the 
outlined services in accordance with the scope, schedule, and estimated costs provided above and the Terms 
and Conditions. 

   

Date Authorized Representative 
 

Name (print or type) 

Title (print or type) 



   The Power of Commitment 

044144-PRO-1  |  4th Street Landfill Site – Brunswick, Glynn County, Georgia 6 

 

 

 

Attachment 1  

Terms and Conditions 
 

 

 



 
GHD | One Page Standard Terms | Rev. 0 - 07/01/2015 This completed form is a quality record 

Reference No.:  044144-PRO-1 

Standard Terms for Professional Services 

GHD Services Inc. ("GHD") and Client (as set out below) agree that any professional services performed 
by GHD for Client, relating to the scope of work, will be on the following standard terms: 

1. Invoices for services rendered will be issued monthly payable on receipt.  Amounts due will be 
increased at the rate of 1 1/2 percent per month after 30 days.  GHD reserves the right, without 
penalty, to discontinue services in the event of non-payment of undisputed amounts. 

2. GHD maintains statutory workers compensation insurance, and professional, pollution, general, 
auto, and employers liability insurance which GHD deems adequate.  Certificates of insurance shall 
be provided on request. 

3. GHD's services are solely for Client's benefit and may not be relied upon by any third party without 
GHD's express written consent.  Any use, change, or distribution of Work Product without the 
written consent of GHD shall be at Client's risk and will not give rise to liability of GHD. 

4. GHD shall perform its professional services in the manner consistent with the level of care and skill 
ordinarily exercised by other professional firms acting under similar circumstances and at similar 
times.  GHD makes no other warranty, implied or expressed. 

5. GHD shall indemnify and hold harmless Client for its services to the extent GHD's neglect or willful 
misconduct causes liability for the Client.  Neither party shall be liable for any consequential loss, 
injury or damages suffered by the other party, including but not limited to loss of use, earnings, and 
business interruption. 

6. To the maximum extent permitted by law, GHD's liability and that of its employees, agents, 
directors, officers, and subcontractors to Client due to any negligent acts, errors or omissions, shall 
not exceed $1,000,000, except as to damages resulting from the gross negligence or willful 
misconduct of GHD. 

7. Client acknowledges that the pre-existing presence, if any, of pollutants, and other potentially 
hazardous conditions at the project site were not caused by or are not the responsibility of GHD, 
and that this contractual arrangement does not transfer any legal responsibilities for such 
conditions to GHD. 

8. GHD may terminate this Agreement for nonpayment or other default by Client. Terms agreed to 
under this Agreement shall survive any such termination.  

9. Client hereby agrees that this agreement may be assigned to another entity within the GHD group 
of companies that will be directly or indirectly wholly-owned by GHD Group Pty Ltd. (a “Related 
Entity”). Any such Related Entity shall assume all of GHD’s liabilities, duties and obligations in, to, 
and under this Agreement. Client hereby agrees that this assignment may be effected without any 
further notice or action on the part of GHD. Upon request, Client agrees to execute and deliver any 
further documents as may be reasonably requested by GHD or its successor to evidence such 
consent and/or assignment. 

These Terms and Conditions are hereby accepted this       day of      , 201 . 

Client Signature: 

 
 
Name of Company:       
 

Per:       
  
Title:       
 

I have authority to bind the Corporation 
 



 

 
 

 

       October 7, 2020 

 

Mr. Cornell Harvey 

Mayor 

City of Brunswick 

City Hall 

601 Gloucester Street 

Brunswick, GA 31520 

 

Dear Mayor Harvey, 

 

We developed a proposed salary ranges for the City Manager position. The recommended 

aged average salary range is $116,618 - $151,603. This salary range was developed in a similar 

manner to other management positions in the City of Brunswick. Furthermore, we examined 

several of the factors suggested by the International City/County Management Association 

(ICMA) to confirm the appropriateness of our recommendation. According to ICMA guidelines, 

the base salary for a local government manager should be based on the following items: 

 

 Scope of services provided 

 Requirements of the job 

 Experience needed to successfully perform 

 Market pay for comparable public sector executives 

 Local government’s financial position 

 The individual Chief Administrative Officer’s (CAO) credentials, experience, and 

expertise 

 

We want to share a brief summary of some of the suggested ICMA factors that we 

examined. Our review started with examining the position description for the City Manager. This 

step was essential to ensure that the scope of work and requirements of your City Manager 

position are similar to other cities and counties. 

 

 As identified on the position description, the City Manager position in the City of 

Brunswick is “responsible for managing the day-to-day operations of the city government” and 

“prepares the city’s annual operating, capital budgets, and short and long-range plans.” The 

description also identifies that the work assignments are provided by the Mayor and City 

Commission and the position is responsible for directly supervising department directors and 

select staff.  

 

 

 



Mayor Harvey 

October 7, 2020 

Page two 

 

Next, we reviewed the job description of the City Manager/Administrator position 

developed by the State of Georgia’s Department of Community Affairs. This job description is 

designed to be representative of the position across the State of Georgia. Here is their description 

of the City Manager/Administrator position: 

 

 Directs and coordinates administration of city government in accordance with policies 

 determined by city council or other authorized elected official.  Appoints department 

 heads and staff as provided by local ordinance.  Prepares annual budget and submits 

 estimates to authorized elected officials for approval. 

 

This description closely matches the described duties and responsibilities of the City 

Manager position in the City of Brunswick, which allows us to assert that the scope of work and 

requirements of your City Manager position are similar to other cities in the State of Georgia.  

 

Additionally, our review involved examining the market pay for comparable public sector 

executives in the State of Georgia and throughout the United States. We want to first share our 

analysis of the pay collected by the State of Georgia’s Department of Community Affairs for 

incumbents in the City Manager/Administrator position from twenty-six (26) municipalities with 

a population between 10,000 and 24,999 (Population Group C) in the State of Georgia. The 

below table provides the summarized information for this survey. 

 

Position 

DCA Benchmark 

Position(s) 

No. of  DCA 

Population 

Group C 

Respondents 

Annual 

Hours 

Minimum 

Annual  

Mean 

Salary 

Aged 

Minimum 

Annual 

Salary 

Maximum 

Annual 

Rate  

Mean 

Aged 

Maximum 

Annual 

Rate 

Mean 

City Manager 
City 

Manager/Administrator 
26 2080 $115,807 $116,618 $146,270 $147,294 

*The reported 2019 DCA compensation data was aged by 0.7%. The wages and salaries for the Employment Cost Index (ECI) 

for state and local government workforce the past 6 months (as of June 2020) was 0.7%. The ECI is calculated by the Bureau of 

Labor Statistics and is a quarterly measure of change in compensation costs. Aging compensation data involves increasing 

compensation data by a percentage assumed to be representative of wage movement. 

 

Next, we want to provide you with our analysis of the national compensation data for the 

Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) position. This information was derived from the 2019 

International City/County Management Association (ICMA) CAO Salary and Compensation 

Survey. The national median base salary for a municipal CAO at the end of 2018 was $135,140. 

The below table provides CAO salary information by population size for reporting national city 

governments. 

 

 

 



 

Mayor Harvey 

October 7, 2020 

Page three 

 

 

 
 

We compared the median annual salaries from this survey to the proposed salary range 

for your City Manager position. Our analysis indicates the proposed salary range for your City 

Manager will match the median salary for incumbents in similarly sized city governments 

throughout the United States.  

 

In conclusion, we believe the proposed salary range for the City Manager position will be 

competitive relative to other comparable municipal governments in the State of Georgia and 

adhere to the spirit of the ICMA’s Guidelines for Compensation for local government managers. 

According to their guidelines, the compensation for a local government manager should be “fair, 

reasonable, transparent, and based on comparable public salaries nationally and regionally”.  

 

Finally, it is advisable for you to review additional ICMA guidelines (i.e. local 

government’s financial position) not addressed in this letter when evaluating the compensation 

for your City Manager. Please contact us if you have any other questions or need additional 

clarification related to these recommendations.   

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

        

Alex Daman 

       Public Service Associate 


	Agenda Packet
	Encl. 1
	Encl. 2
	Encl. 3
	Encl. 4
	Encl. 5
	Encl. 6



